70810-4

70810-4

2014 JAN 2

PH 2:53

No. 70810-4-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS PCS LLC, a Delaware limited liability company,

Respondent,

v.

CITY OF BOTHELL, WASHINGTON,

Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT CITY OF BOTHELL

Wayne D. Tanaka WSBA #6303 Aaron P. Riensche WSBA #37202 Ogden Murphy Wallace PLLC 901 Fifth Avenue, Suite 3500 Seattle, Washington 98164-2008 206.447.7000

Attorneys for Appellant City of Bothell

{APR1124281.DOCX;5/00005.050015/ }

ORIGINAL

Assignments of Error					
	Issue	Pertaining to Assignments of Error				
C.	STA	TEMENT OF THE CASE4				
	1.	Background4				
	2.	The class-action lawsuits				
	3.	New Cingular's administrative refund claim7				
	4.	New Cingular's multiple revisions to the amount and time				
	period claimed8					
	New Cingular's failure to comply with the Bothell					
		Municipal Code's procedural requirements9				
	6.	New Cingular's original action in superior court10				
	7.	New Cingular's failure to produce any evidence on the				
		predicates for equitable tolling in response to the City's				
		discovery requests11				
	8.	The City's motion for partial summary judgment13				
D.	SUM	IMARY OF ARGUMENT15				
E.	ARG	UMENT17				
	1.	Standard of review17				
	2.	The limitations period for this tax-refund action is the three				
		years preceding the date the complaint was filed				
	3.	Equitable tolling may be applied only when the plaintiff				
		shows both that justice requires it and that the predicates				
		are met				
	4.	New Cingular failed to produce any evidence on the				
		predicates for equitable tolling25				
		a. New Cingular failed to produce any evidence of				
		deception, bad faith, or false assurances25				
		b. New Cingular failed to show that it acted with				
		reasonable diligence				
	5.	New Cingular failed to show that justice requires tolling33				
		a. Because the administrative process is a path to				
		superior court, equitable tolling is unnecessary to				
		preserve the earlier tolling date				
		b. The equitable tolling doctrine differentiates among				
		claimants with varying levels of sophistication38				
{APR1124281.DOCX;5/00005.050015/ }						
- i -						

		c.	Tolling is prejudicial to the City41
		d.	Under Washington law, New Cingular had a
			responsibility to know and understand the tax laws.42
	6.	New Cingular's out-of-state cases are not helpful43	
		a.	New Cingular's federal cases illustrate why
			equitable tolling was inappropriate under the facts
			of this case43
		b.	California law conflicts with Washington law46
	7.	Equi	ty disfavors New Cingular under the facts of this case.47
F.	CON	ICLUSI	ION
APPE	NDIX		

{APR1124281.DOCX;5/00005.050015/ }

. .

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases

i 1

Addison v. State, 21 Cal.3d 313, 319, 146 Cal.Rptr. 224, 578 P.2d 941 (1978)
Ames v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 176 Wash. 509, 513, 30 P.2d 239 (1934) 21, 22, 23, 47
Benyaminov v. City of Bellevue, 144 Wn. App. 755, 767, 183 P.3d 1127 (2008)
Burris v. General Ins. Co. of America, 16 Wn. App. 73, 75-76, 553 P.2d 125 (1976)
Capital Tracing, Inc. v. U.S., 63 F.3d 859, 862 (9th Cir. 1995) 44, 45
Cary v. Mason County, 132 Wn. App. 495, 501, 132 P.3d 157 (2006)
Cawdrey v. Hanson Baker Ludlow Drumheller, P.S., 129 Wn. App. 810, 818, 120 P.3d 605 (2005)
Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 325, 106 S.Ct. 2548, 81 L.Ed.2d 265 (1986)
Cost Mgmt. Servs., Inc. v. City of Lakewood, 178 Wn.2d 635, 310 P.3d 804, 812 (2013) 19, 21, 35, 36, 37, 43, 46
Douchette v. Bethel School Dist. No. 403, 117 Wn.2d 805, 810-11, 818 P.2d 1362 (1991)
Federal Way v. King County, 62 Wn. App. 530, 537, 815 P.2d 790 (1991)
Finkelstein v. Security Properties, Inc., 76 Wn. App. 733, 739- 40, 888 P.2d 161 (1995)
Goodman v. Goodman, 128 Wn.2d 366, 373, 907 P.2d 290 (1995)
Graham Neighborhood Ass'n v. F.G. Associates, 162 Wn. App. 98, 252 P.3d 898 (2011) 27, 33

Hart v. Clark County, 52 Wn. App. 113, 117, 758 P.2d 515 (1988)
Holland v. Florida, 560 U.S. 631, 130 S. Ct. 2549, 2560-61, 177 L.Ed.2d 130 (2010)
In re Bonds, 165 Wn.2d 135, 143, 196 P.3d 672 (2008) 21, 24, 25, 31, 33
In re Haghighi, 178 Wn.2d 435, 466, 309 P.3d 459 (2013)26, 37, 38, 43, 47
Irwin v. Department of Veterans Affairs, 498 U.S. 89, 96 (1990)
J.M. Arthur & Co. v. Burke, 83 Wash. 690, 693, 145 P. 974 (1915)
Jacobsen, 89 Wn.2d 104, 109, 569 P.2d 1152 (1977) 19, 25
Kassbaum v. Steppenwolf Prods., Inc., 236 F.3d 487, 494 (9th Cir. 2000)
Kerr-Belmark Const. Co. v. City Council of City of Marysville, 36 Wn. App. 370, 371-73, 674 P.2d 684 (1984)
Kingery v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 132 Wn.2d 162, 937 P.2d 565 (1997)23, 31, 32, 33
LaPlante v. State, 85 Wn.2d 154, 158, 531 P.2d 299 (1975) 17
Leschner v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 27 Wn.2d 911, 926, 185 P.2d 113 (1947) 22, 23, 31, 47
McDonald v. Antelope Valley Community College District, 45 Cal.4th 88, 96, 84 Cal.Rptr.3d 734, 194 P.3d 1026 (2008)
Millay v. Cam, 135 Wn.2d 193, 206, 955 P.2d 791 (1998) 24, 29
Nickum v. City of Bainbridge Island, 153 Wn. App. 366, 379, 223 P.3d 1172 (2009) 19, 25
Pace v. DiGuglielmo, 544 U.S. 408, 418 (2005) 44
People's Sav. Bank v. Bufford, 90 Wash. 204, 208, 155 P. 1068 (1916)
Qwest Corp. v. City of Bellevue, 161 Wn.2d 353, 371, 166 P.3d 667 (2007)10, 46
Ramsey v. Coughlin, 94 F.3d 71, 74 (2d Cir.1996)

4

.

Reid v. Dalton, 124 Wn. App. 113, 122, 100 P.3d 349 (2004) 20				
Reid V. Daiton, 124 wh. App. 113, 122, 100 P.3d 349 (2004) 20 Rodriguez v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 85 Wn.2d 949, 540				
P.2d 1359 (1975)				
Schreiner Farms, Inc. v. Am. Tower, Inc., 173 Wn. App. 154, 159, 293 P.3d 407 (2013)				
Seven Gables v. MGM/UA Entertainment, 106 Wn.2d 1, 13, 721 P.2d 1 (1986)				
State v. Duvall, 86 Wn. App. 871, 875, 940 P.2d 671 (1997) 24, 29, 30				
State v. Peeler, 7 Wn. App. 274, 499 P.2d 90 (1972)				
Structural Steel Fabricators, Inc. v. City of Orange, 40 Cal.App.4th 459, 464-65, 46 Cal.Rptr.2d 867 (1995) 47				
Tenpenny v. U.S., 490 F.Supp.2d 852 (N.D. Ohio 2007) 45				
Tracfone Wireless, Inc. v. Dept. of Revenue, 170 Wn.2d 273, 291, 242 P.3d 810 (2010)				
Trimball v. Washington State University, 140 Wn.2d 88, 93, 993 P.2d 259 (2000)				
U.S. Oil & Ref. Co. v. Department of Ecology, 96 Wn.2d 85, 91, 633 P.2d 1329 (1981)				
Vickery v. AT&T Mobility LLC, Cause No. 2:10-cv-00257, in the U.S. District Court for the Western District of Washington				
Young v. Key Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 112 Wn.2d 216, 225, 770 P.2d 182 (1989)17				
Young v. Savidge, 155 Wn. App. 806, 814, 230 P.3d 222 (2010)				
Statutes				
BCW 2 08 010 10				

.

.

RCW 2.08.010	
RCW 25.04.310(5)	40
RCW 35.21.717	
RCW 4.16.080(3)	
RCW 6.23.040(3)	
{APR1124281.DOCX;5/00005.050015/ }	

{APR1124281.DOCX;5/00005.050015/ }

• •

A. INTRODUCTION

This tax-refund case arises from the advent of the so-called "smart phone." Respondent New Cingular Wireless PCS LLC ("New Cingular"), a Delaware corporation, alleges that when its affiliate, AT&T Mobility LLC ("AT&T"), started marketing wireless devices with internet capabilities, it failed to recognize that it had become an internet-access provider. As such, it continued—for years, across the country—paying local utility taxes on internet services that it now claims are exempt from taxation under federal law.

When class-action lawsuits by its subscribers finally prompted AT&T to address this issue, it submitted refund claims to taxing jurisdictions around the nation in November 2010. One of the many Washington cities to receive such a claim was appellant City of Bothell (the "City"). AT&T chose not to follow the administrative procedures set out in the Bothell Municipal Code ("BMC"). Instead, after the City denied the refund request, New Cingular brought this original action in superior court in April 2012. Although New Cingular raised multiple causes of action, the complaint's allegations made clear that this lawsuit was a straightforward tax-refund claim.

The City moved for partial summary judgment, to establish that the standard three-year limitations period for tax-refund claims applied, such that New Cingular could seek a refund of taxes paid only from April 25, 2009 to April 25, 2012, i.e. the three years immediately preceding the filing of the judicial action. In opposition, New Cingular argued that the statute of limitations should be "equitably tolled" as of the date AT&T filed its administrative claim, in November 2010. New Cingular failed, however, to present any evidence to satisfy the longstanding prerequisites to the equitable tolling doctrine: (1) deception, bad faith, or false assurances by the defendant; and (2) reasonable diligence by the plaintiff.

Despite the total lack of evidence to support these predicates, the trial court denied the City's motion and *sua sponte* granted partial summary judgment in New Cingular's favor. Acknowledging that it was extending Washington law, the trial court decided that equitable tolling could apply to tax-refund claims without proof of the predicates. This decision flew in the face of our Supreme Court's mandate that the equitable tolling doctrine, as an encroachment on the legislative power, should be used only in exceptional situations. The trial court erred when it expanded the doctrine here. The partial summary judgment in New

{APR1124281.DOCX;5/00005.050015/ }

.

Cingular's favor should therefore be reversed with instructions to enter a partial summary judgment in the City's favor.

B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Assignments of Error

 The trial court erred in denying the City's motion for partial summary judgment regarding the statute of limitations.

2) The trial court erred in deciding that the doctrine of equitable tolling applies in tax-refund actions where the predicate showings of deception, bad faith, or false assurances by the defendant and reasonable diligence by the plaintiff have not been made.

3) The trial court erred in *sua sponte* granting partial summary judgment on the statute of limitations issue in New Cingular's favor.

Issue Pertaining to Assignments of Error

Washington law has long required predicate findings of deception, bad faith, or false assurances by the defendant and reasonable diligence by the plaintiff before a plaintiff can invoke the doctrine of equitable tolling. The trial court effectively decided that these requirements do not apply to tax-refund actions. Did the trial court err by extending a doctrine that, according to our Supreme Court, should be used sparingly and only under narrow circumstances? {APR1124281.DOCX;5/00005.050015/}

- 3 -

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Background

.

The City is a non-charter, optional municipal code city situated in North King County and South Snohomish County, Washington. CP 275. New Cingular is a telephone business that sells telecommunication services. CP 11. New Cingular also sells wireless data plans that provide internet access via "smart phone" devices, such as the iPhone and the Blackberry. *Id*.

This lawsuit involves utility taxes that New Cingular allegedly paid to the City on revenues from the provision of this type of internet service. According to New Cingular, the federal government has prohibited taxation of such services since November 1, 2003, under the Internet Tax Freedom Act ("ITFA"), 47 U.S.C. § 151. CP 13. New Cingular also asserts that the State of Washington has prohibited such taxes since 1997, under RCW 35.21.717. *Id*.

Notwithstanding its current position that these services were not taxable, New Cingular represents that until November 1, 2010, it included revenues from such services when it reported its taxable income for purposes of local utility taxes. CP 12-13. New Cingular passed the costs of such taxes, including the taxes allegedly paid on internet service, onto {APR1124281.DOCX;5/00005.050015/} its customers in the form of a surcharge. *Id.* New Cingular assessed this surcharge to customers not only in Bothell, but also in taxing jurisdictions across the United States, including at least 128 other cities in this State. CP 7-11, 13-14. New Cingular attributes this alleged overcharge to what it calls a "coding error." CP 13.

2. <u>The class-action lawsuits</u>

New Cingular claims that it first learned about the "coding error" when its customers across the country began bringing lawsuits against AT&T. CP 184. Customers in Washington, for example, sued AT&T in *Vickery v. AT&T Mobility LLC*, Cause No. 2:10-cv-00257, in the U.S. District Court for the Western District of Washington. CP 14. The *Vickery* complaint alleged that AT&T improperly and illegally charged its Washington customers for state and local taxes on internet service. CP 75. The U.S. Judicial Panel on Multidistrict Litigation centralized 28 actions against AT&T, including *Vickery*, in the U.S. District Court for the Northern District of Illinois. CP 14.

AT&T settled these lawsuits without paying a dime. Under the settlement, AT&T agreed to cease billing its customers for internet taxes. CP 85. It also agreed to pursue refunds from taxing jurisdictions in which

it had standing. CP 14. The refunds obtained would be assigned to the settlement class. *Id.*

Although New Cingular claims now that it paid internet taxes mistakenly due to a "coding error," in the settlement agreement it reserved the right to continue charging its customers for such taxes if the settlement agreement was not approved by the court. CP 85. AT&T also represented that if the case were litigated further, it would assert defenses to customer claims, including "that neither ITFA nor state law forbids the challenged taxes." CP 93. AT&T further advised that its defenses would include "invoking the voluntary payment doctrine to bar plaintiffs' right to recover charges." *Id*.

Although the district court approved the settlement, its decision was heavily influenced by the weakness of the customers' claim. For example, the court emphasized the testimony of Robert Klonoff, class-action expert and Dean of Lewis & Clark Law School, who stated that the customers' case had "enormous complications" and that the voluntary payment doctrine was a "huge problem." CP 99. Dean Klonoff estimated the customers' probability of success, in recovering this money from AT&T, as less than fifty percent. *Id*.

3. New Cingular's administrative refund claim

On November 12, 2010, the City received from AT&T a form letter containing a refund claim for \$416,802.28 in utility tax payments. CP 280. The amount requested included nearly five years of taxes, paid from November 1, 2005 through September 30, 2010. *Id.* AT&T offered the following explanation for the request:

> Reason: Tax was inappropriately collected from customers of the Taxpayer and remitted to your jurisdiction's tax administration during the above time period as explained in the attached statement. Supporting detailed billing and tax remittance schedules are also enclosed on the DVD.

Id.

.

Attached to the request was an eight-page "Statement in Support of Claim." CP 281-88. More than four pages of this statement consisted of AT&T's newly adopted argument that data services are internet access. CP 281-85. The remaining pages outlined the arrangement between AT&T and the class-action plaintiffs. CP 285-88.

New Cingular made no further efforts to communicate with the City until more than a year later. Its attorneys wrote to the City in January 2012, inquiring as to the status of the claim. CP 290. The City denied the refund claim by letter dated April 16, 2012. CP 103. (APR1124281.DOCX;5/00005.050015/)

- 7 -

4. <u>New Cingular's multiple revisions to the amount and</u> <u>time period claimed</u>

Since the City denied the claim, New Cingular has admitted that the amount it originally claimed was erroneous. On June 15, 2012, AT&T notified the City that it was reducing the amount of its refund request. CP 293. It had made two errors in calculating the amount:

- First, it had included taxes paid on charges for services that were *not* data services and therefore were properly taxable. This error had inflated the original request by \$11,144.70.
- Second, it had failed to account for credits taken against tax remittances on amounts that had been written off as "bad debts." AT&T acknowledged that it would need to reduce its refund claim by 1.5% to account for this oversight.

CP 293-94. Thus, AT&T had overstated its request by roughly \$17,000.¹

Moreover, New Cingular and AT&T have tacitly acknowledged that the time period claimed in the administrative request was excessive. In November 2010, AT&T represented that it had paid the taxes in question "through September 30, 2010." CP 280. However, during the course of this lawsuit, New Cingular has represented that AT&T re-coded

{APR1124281.DOCX;5/00005.050015/ }

.

¹ The letter does not state the total reduction amount. The original claim was for \$416,802. CP 280. Reducing this amount by \$11,144 and then subtracting 1.5% yields approximately \$399,572.

its charges for internet-access services as "nontaxable" in August 2010. CP 243, 177-78.

.

5. <u>New Cingular's failure to comply with the Bothell</u> <u>Municipal Code's procedural requirements</u>

The City levies a utility tax on companies engaged in the telephone business under the BMC, Chapter 5.08. *See* CP 192 *et seq*. It exempts, however, income derived from "transactions in interstate or foreign commerce or from any business which the City is prohibited from taxing under the constitutions of the United States or the state." BMC 5.08.040.

The BMC also provides a detailed refund procedure. A taxpayer that believes it has overpaid may apply to the city treasurer for a correction of the amount paid and a conference for examination and review of the tax liability. BMC 5.08.210. If the taxpayer is unsatisfied with the treasurer's decision, it may appeal to the City Council within ten days. BMC 5.08.220. The taxpayer then has a further right of appeal to superior court. BMC 5.08.230.

In its complaint, New Cingular represented that to the extent any city's municipal code contained specific refund requirements, "New Cingular substantially complied with those requirements." CP 16. But New Cingular did not comply with the foregoing procedure in soliciting the refund at issue here from the City of Bothell. New Cingular did not, {APR1124281.DOCX;5/00005.050015/}

for example, apply for a conference with the city treasurer. CP 276. Nor did it appeal the denial to the City Council or the superior court. *Id*.

6. New Cingular's original action in superior court

After its administrative claim was denied, rather than follow the City's claim procedures, New Cingular filed this action on April 25, 2012. CP 106-24. New Cingular alleged that the superior court had "original jurisdiction under Article IV Section Six of the Washington Constitution and RCW 2.08.010 because this case involves the legality and applicability of a tax." CP 6. New Cingular later argued that it was not required to exhaust administrative remedies, based on the concept of concurrent original jurisdiction mentioned in *Qwest Corp. v. City of Bellevue*, 161 Wn.2d 353, 371, 166 P.3d 667 (2007). CP 234.²

Although the complaint attempts to repackage the claim under four different causes of action, all four merely seek a tax refund. For example, the first cause of action, for "declaratory judgment," seeks a "judicial determination of [New Cingular's] right to a refund under municipal, state, and federal law." CP 17. The second cause of action, for unjust

{APR1124281.DOCX;5/00005.050015/ }

.

² The Washington Supreme Court subsequently held that this interpretation of *Qwest*—as obviating the need to exhaust remedies—was erroneous. *See Cost Mgmt. Servs., Inc. v. City of Lakewood*, 178 Wn.2d 635, 310 P.3d 804, 812 (2013). Although the *Cost Management* holding calls into question the viability of New Cingular's entire cause of action, the question of whether the case should be dismissed due to New Cingular's failure to exhaust administrative remedies is not currently before the Court.

enrichment, alleges that "Defendants received a benefit from receipt of taxes erroneously collected from New Cingular customers and remitted to the Defendants." *Id.* New Cingular also asserted constitutional violations, but based these on the allegation that "due process requires Defendants to provide a remedy in the form of a tax refund to New Cingular." CP 18. That this is a straightforward tax-refund claim is confirmed in New Cingular's prayer for relief, where the only substantive relief requested was "a declaration that Defendants have an obligation to refund the erroneously collected tax on Internet access." CP 019.

7. <u>New Cingular's failure to produce any evidence on the</u> predicates for equitable tolling in response to the City's <u>discovery requests</u>

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