FEB 2 0 2014

Court of Appeals No. 70810-4-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

New Cingular Wireless PCS LLC,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

VS.

City of Bothell, et al.,

Defendants-Petitioners.

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

HILLIS CLARK MARTIN & PETERSON P.S. Michael R. Scott, WSBA #12822 Sarah E. Moum, WSBA #42086 Holly D. Golden, WSBA #44404 Andrew G. Murphy, WSBA #46664 1221 Second Avenue, Suite 500 Seattle WA 98101-2925 Telephone: (206) 623-1745

BARTIMUS, FRICKLETON, ROBERTSON & GORNY, P.C.

Edward D. Robertson, Jr.

(Admitted *pro hac vice*) Mary D. Winter

(Admitted pro hac vice)

715 Swifts Highway

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

e. Equitable tolling here effectuates the purposes underlying the statute of limitations.

Statutes of limitations serve to protect defendants from stale claims and to promote justice by "preventing surprises through the revival of stale claims that have been allowed to slumber while evidence has been lost, memories have faded, and

witnesses have disappeared." Burnett v. New York Cent. R.R. Co., 380 U.S. 424, 428, 85 S. Ct. 1050, 13 L. Ed. 2d 941 (1965).

Equitable tolling in this case effectuates each of those purposes. Bothell has had full notice of New Cingular's claims since the filing of the refund claim in November 2010. It does not and cannot claim that evidence has been lost, memories have faded, or witnesses have disappeared since the claim was filed. Bothell was fully able to gather and preserve evidence as soon as New Cingular filed its refund claim.

Bothell argues it would be prejudiced by equitable tolling because New Cingular could recover more of the payments

Bothell unjustly possesses, but an increased damages award is not the type of prejudice statutes of limitations protect against.

See Douchette v. Bethel Sch. Dist. No. 403, 117 Wn.2d 805, 813, 818 P.2d 1362 (1991) (describing prejudice in terms of unavailable evidence that prevents an adequate defense).

Bothell cannot allege its defense is stymied by the application of equitable tolling.

f. Sophistication does not preclude equitable relief.

The test for applying equitable tolling is whether justice demands it and tolling is consistent with the relevant statutes, not whether the party is unsophisticated. *Millay*, 135 Wn.2d at 206. Adopting Bothell's interpretation of the equitable tolling doctrine would limit its applicability to the insane and the illiterate (Br. of Appellant at 21-24, 38-40), but equity's reach is not so limited. A lack of sophistication can create the need for equitable relief, but sophisticated plaintiffs are not categorically ineligible for equitable relief. *See Capital Tracing, Inc. v. United States*, 63 F.3d 859, 863 (9th Cir. 1995) (statute of limitations equitably tolled for a bail bond company); *Millay*, 135 Wn.2d at 207-08 (allowing equitable tolling for property developers).

When deciding whether to grant an equitable remedy, "courts often 'balance the equities' between the parties, taking into consideration the relief sought by the plaintiff and the hardship imposed on the defendant." *Douchette*, 117 Wn.2d at 812. Bothell has not demonstrated any hardship. New Cingular and the Washington Class members, however, will not receive adequate relief if the Court declines to exercise its broad

equitable powers and toll the statute of limitations from the date

New Cingular filed the refund claim. Balancing the equities

between the parties militates in favor of equitably tolling the

statute of limitations.

3. Bothell omits key facts to stretch the impact of recent Supreme Court cases.

Bothell incorrectly asserts that two recent Washington Supreme Court cases, CMS and Highighi, control this case.

CMS does not address equitable tolling, but rather stands for the impropriety of using the administrative process to evade court rulings. Highighi is limited to the Personal Restraint Petition context, and explicitly states that equitable tolling should be allowed in situations where the plaintiff would otherwise be denied its remedy.

a. CMS does not address or control equitable tolling.

Bothell argues that CMS controls this case, but CMS stands for the proposition that the administrative process cannot revive claims after a court rules those claims are stale.

Bothell never once mentions that the CMS trial court ruled the

claims were stale, which was the key fact for the statute of limitations analysis in *CMS*. 178 Wn.2d at 651-52.

There, the taxpayer, CMS, pursued administrative remedies specifically to overcome an adverse court ruling. CMS initially filed a tax refund claim that Lakewood never directly responded to. *Id.* at 639. Instead, Lakewood sent CMS a demand for tax payment for a time-frame other than that mentioned in the refund claim. *Id.* CMS responded to Lakewood's demand by filing suit in superior court. *Id.* The court ruled on a motion for partial summary judgment that the three year statute of limitations barred a portion of CMS' claim. *Id.* at 640. To recover the taxes paid during the time-barred period, CMS filed a second suit against Lakewood that sought a writ of mandamus to force the city to respond to its initial tax refund claim. *Id.*

The Court disapproved of that tactic because CMS attempted to evade the trial court's ruling. *Id.* at 651. CMS "sought mandamus only *after* the trial court informed it that its recovery in superior court was constrained by the three year statute of limitations." *Id.* (emphasis added). CMS' express purpose for seeking mandamus was to reach beyond the statute

of limitations. *Id.* at 652. As Chief Justice Madsen phrased it during oral argument, CMS tried to get what it wanted in the first place, but through the back door.²

The Court issued a narrow holding: "Under the circumstances of this case, we hold that CMS cannot choose first to pursue recovery through the courts, and then attempt to bypass the statute of limitations that necessarily applies as a result of that choice by seeking relief through the administrative process." *Id.* at 652. The Court repeatedly limited its holding to "the circumstances of this case." *Id. CMS* merely held the administrative process could not be used to bypass a court's statute of limitations ruling. There is no such issue in the case at bar, where, unlike *CMS*, there has been no ruling that New Cingular's claims are stale. Instead, New Cingular has asserted the doctrine of equitable tolling, and the trial court agreed the doctrine applies.

² Wash. State Supreme Court oral argument, Cost Mgmt. Servs., Inc. v. City of Lakewood, No. 87964–8 (May 16, 2013), at 38 min., 50 sec., audio recording by TVW, Washington State's Public Affairs Network, available at http://www.tvw.org.

b. Highighi does not apply to civil cases.

Bothell also overstates the precedential value of *In re Highighi*, 178 Wn.2d 435, 309 P.3d 459 (2013), by omitting that it was decided in the Personal Restraint Petition ("**PRP**") context.

Highighi was convicted using evidence obtained through an out-of-state warrant that was not properly domesticated. *Id.* at 438. The trial court relied on the inevitable discovery doctrine to deny his motion to suppress the out-of-state evidence. *Id.* at 439. After the Court of Appeals affirmed his convictions, and the mandate terminating review was issued, the Supreme Court struck down the inevitable discovery doctrine. Id. at 440 (referencing State v. Winterstein, 167 Wn.2d) 620, 220 P.3d 1226 (2009)). Highighi timely filed a PRP, and his appointed counsel subsequently filed an amended PRP to include an ineffective assistance of counsel claim. Id. at 441. The Court of Appeals found the ineffective assistance of counsel claim was time-barred because the amended PRP was filed beyond the one-year limit for PRPs and equitable tolling did not apply. Id.

The Supreme Court agreed and found equitable tolling did not apply because of the unusual PRP context. The Court distinguished the PRP context from "normal" situations:

Moreover, the general framework governing PRPs shows that equitable tolling has a more limited role than exists in other contexts, which makes it necessary to adhere to a stricter standard. In a "normal" situation, equitable tolling might be the only way in which a party is not deprived of his or her remedy.

Id. at 448 (quotation in original, emphasis added). The Court declined to extend equitable tolling in the PRP context because of the general rules and policies governing PRPs, the finality of criminal judgments as a precondition to federal habeas corpus relief, and Highighi's ability to toll the statute of limitations by relying on newly discovered evidence, double jeopardy violations, and the actual innocence doctrine. Id.

None of those concerns exist with New Cingular's refund claim. Instead, this is the kind of "normal" situation where New Cingular and the Washington Settlement Class will be deprived of their remedy without equitable tolling.

4. Justice requires equitable tolling of New Cingular's claims.

In *Douchette*, the Court established seven factors to weigh when applying the doctrine of equitable tolling. 117 Wn.2d at 811. These factors are not elements, but serve as considerations to assist the court's evaluation. The most relevant factors here are the plaintiff's diligence in pursuing its rights, absence of prejudice to the defendant, and the plaintiff's reliance on false assurances on the part of the defendant. *Id*.

Applying these factors to the present case demonstrates that justice requires equitable tolling. As discussed above, New Cingular was diligent in pursuing its rights, Bothell's defense is not prejudiced, and the Bothell Municipal Code provided false assurances to New Cingular.

Justice further requires equitable tolling because New Cingular could not, and was not required to, exhaust administrative remedies, so it had no other means to preserve the initial tolling date. If the Court disagrees because of the holding in CMS, then the Court should find that under the unique circumstances of this case, the confusion caused by CMS

provides another basis to equitably toll the statute of limitations.

a. Exhaustion does not apply to the Denial Letter.

Bothell now argues that completing the administrative process would have tolled the original filing date, so justice does not require the application of equitable tolling. Bothell's argument is odd in light of the assertion in its Denial Letter that "[t]he letter received on November 3, 2010 did not toll the statute of limitations." CP 266. Bothell's current argument requires that its administrative appeal process was available and mandatory to New Cingular. CMS held that courts must determine whether exhaustion applies, not that available administrative processes are always mandatory. 178 Wn.2d at 648. Exhaustion is not always required simply because administrative procedures exist. Smoke, 132 Wn.2d at 224-25.

Here, New Cingular could not administratively appeal
Bothell's denial because, while the Bothell City Council would
have appellate jurisdiction over a denial issued by its treasurer,
the city council lacked jurisdiction over its attorney's Denial
Letter. See BMC 5.08.220. Furthermore, exhaustion was not

required because Bothell failed to comply with its own code by having its attorney issue a tax refund determination instead of its treasurer. Taken as a whole, considerations of fairness and practicality in this case outweigh the policies underlying the doctrine of exhaustion.

(1) The Bothell City Council lacked jurisdiction to review the Denial Letter.

An administrative order is not appealable unless an agency has jurisdiction over the claim. Citizens for Mount Vernon v. City of Mount Vernon, 133 Wn.2d 861, 868, 947 P.2d 1208 (1997). In Mount Vernon, the Supreme Court excused the failure to appeal the city council's approval of a commercial planned unit development to the Growth Management Hearings Board because "the approval granted by the city council falls outside the scope of review granted to the Board." Id. See also State v. Tacoma-Pierce Cnty. Multiple Listing Serv., 95 Wn.2d 280, 284, 622 P.2d 1190 (1980) (exhaustion of potential remedies through the Department of Licensing or Real Estate Commission for Consumer Protection Act violations not required because neither agency had jurisdiction over those claims).

Here, Bothell's attorney issued the denial, CP 266, and BMC 5.08.220 provides the city council with jurisdiction over tax refund determinations made by the treasurer only. That limitation was intentional. BMC 5.08.240, which immediately follows the tax refund appeal provisions in the BMC, specifically allows "[t]he city treasurer or his duly authorized agent" to conduct an investigation related to a tax refund. BMC 5.08.210, however, empowers the treasurer alone to issue refund claim decisions, and BMC 5.08.220 allows review only for "the decision of the treasurer...." (emphasis added). If the code empowered the city council to review the attorney's denial, then BMC 5.08.220 would likely state "the decision of the treasurer or his duly authorized agent," is appealable, but it does not. BMC 5.08.220 consequently does not provide the city council with appellate jurisdiction over the city's attorney's tax refund claim decisions. No city entity had appellate jurisdiction over the Denial Letter, so New Cingular's only available redress was filing suit in court.

(2) Bothell's denial was not a final, appealable order because it failed to comply with Bothell's Municipal Code.

Exhaustion is not required unless the reviewing entity has issued a final, appealable order. *Valley View*, 107 Wn.2d at 635. Doubts as to finality are resolved in favor of the taxpayer. *Id.* at 634.

A city cannot issue a final, appealable order when the city fails to comply with its code. WCHS v. Lynnwood,

120 Wn. App. 668, 86 P.3d 1169, review denied 152 Wn.2d 1034 (2004). In WCHS, the plaintiff sued for declaratory judgment after the city denied both the plaintiff's building permit and business license. Id. at 673-74. The plaintiff did not administratively appeal the city's denials. In finding for the plaintiff, the court rejected the city's argument that the denial letters should have been appealed administratively because the court found the letters were not final orders. Id. at 679-80.

Neither letter complied with the city code provisions governing who should receive notice of decisions, and the provision requiring disclosure of the right to appeal. Id. The court found

the non-complying nature of the letters could not give rise to exhaustion. *Id*.

Bothell failed to comply with its code requirements by having its attorney, instead of its treasurer, deny New Cingular's claim. BMC 5.08.210 empowers the treasurer alone with the authority to review and "grant or deny" tax refund applications. As described above, Bothell's attorney is not authorized to issue tax refund claims, and that limitation was intentional. The denial letter also failed to disclose the right to appeal or available appeal procedures.³ Bothell's failure to comply with BMC 5.08.210 precludes the finding of a final, appealable order and an exhaustion requirement.

(3) Fairness and practicality outweigh requiring exhaustion.

Courts do not require exhaustion when considerations of fairness and practicality outweigh the policies underlying the doctrine of exhaustion. *Prisk v. City of Poulsbo*, 46 Wn. App. 793,

³ Bothell's failure to clearly communicate the right to an appeal, failure to provide clear instructions regarding information necessary to substantiate a refund claim, and failure to communicate how long the city takes to process claims runs counter to the state's public policy that the rights of taxpayers are best implemented when they are provided with "accurate tax information, instructions, forms, administrative policies, and procedure to assist taxpayers..." RCW 82.32A.005(2).

798, 732 P.2d 1013 (1987) (finding fairness and practicality outweighed exhaustion where the plaintiff's only avenue of appeal for assessment of fees was to the city council, which previously imposed the same fees upon the plaintiff).

Exhaustion is unfair and impractical where "the questions raised are purely legal and beyond the authority and expertise of an administrative agency to resolve, and it appears that further administrative proceedings would be ineffective or useless." Schreiber v. Riemcke, 11 Wn. App. 873, 875, 526 P.2d 904 (1974) (citing Hillsborough v. Cromwell, 326 U.S. 620, 625, 66 S. Ct. 445, 90 L. Ed. 358 (1946)).

The issues here are purely legal and exceed the expertise of the treasurer and city council. Bothell asserted several legal defenses in its denial, including lack of standing, the grandfather clause of the Internet Tax Freedom Act, the voluntary payment doctrine, and the statute of limitations.

CP 266-67. Each of Bothell's defenses raises complicated legal issues. The Bothell treasurer demonstrated the legal issues were beyond her expertise by consulting with an attorney in her cursory review of the claim. CP 276. Appealing to the city

council would also be "ineffective or useless" given the complicated legal nature of the arguments, and Bothell's tactic of delaying action.

Without an appealable order, New Cingular could not exhaust administrative remedies. Exhaustion should also be excused because fairness, practicality, and a futile appeal obviate the exhaustion requirement. Without the ability to access fair administrative procedures, justice requires equitable tolling here.

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